UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

LifeSkills Mobile Ancillary Study: Examining Multilevel and Intersectional Stigma and HIV Risk among Young Trans Femmes in the U.S.

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/26k4n5qk

Author

Taylor, Keyanna Paulean Jeanette

Publication Date

2024

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

LifeSkills Mobile Ancillary Study: Examining Multilevel and Intersectional Stigma and HIV Risk among Young Trans Femmes in the U.S.

A thesis submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Master of Science in

Epidemiology

by

Keyanna Paulean Jeanette Taylor

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

LifeSkills Mobile Ancillary Study: Examining Multilevel and Intersectional Stigma and HIV Risk among Young Trans Femmes in the U.S.

by

Keyanna Paulean Jeanette Taylor

Master of Science in Epidemiology University of California, Los Angeles, 2024 Professor Matthew James Mimiaga, Chair

Transgender women, especially young transgender women of color, are disproportionately affected by HIV in the United States. Many interpersonal and structural factors such as discrimination, employment and housing instability, increased substance use and poor mental health, and limited affirming healthcare access have created barriers to adequate prevention methods, timely diagnosis of HIV, and HIV engagement and retention in care. Statelevel policies related to race and gender identity often influence interpersonal and structural barriers to HIV prevention and care and warrant further investigation. Therefore, the objective of this analysis is to examine the relationship between experiences of race- and gender-related stigma at the interpersonal and structural levels, and HIV risk among young adult, ages 16-29 years old, trans women and trans femmes in the United States. To achieve this objective, a multilevel modeling approach using a quantitative intersectional analytic framework is proposed.

ii

The thesis of Keyanna Paulean Jeanette Taylor is approved.

Ilan H. Meyer

Roger Detels

Matthew James Mimiaga, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Burden of Disease	1
Determinants of Disease	1
Intersectionality	2
Existing Evidence	3
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	4
Study Design	4
Participants	4
Measures	5
Table 1. Description of Study Variables	8
Data Analysis Plan and Power Analysis	9
Ethical approval 1	0
Chapter 3: Discussion	0
References 1	12

Chapter 1: Introduction

Burden of Disease

In the United States, transgender women – persons assigned male sex at birth who identify as women or transgender women – are disproportionately affected by HIV.¹ A 2021 report by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) found that among 1,608 transgender women from 7 major U.S. cities, 42% had HIV.¹ Additionally, the report found stark ethnic and racial differences with 42% and 35% of Black and Hispanic transgender women having HIV, respectively, compared to only 17% of white transgender women.¹

Determinants of Disease

It has been well documented that interpersonal and structural racism and transphobia (stigma related to one's race or gender identity) potentiate HIV transmission among transgender women in the Unites States by directly impacting housing stability, employment, health care access and utilization, police discrimination and incarceration, social support, and access to social services.²⁻⁷ For example, rates of homelessness among transgender individuals in the U.S. are twice those among the general population, often resulting from family estrangement and housing and employment discrimination.⁸ These socioeconomic challenges predispose transgender women to engagement in sex work, poor mental health, and substance use, which are associated with sexual risk behavior and HIV infection.⁹⁻¹⁰ Additionally, socioeconomic marginalization hinders access to pre-exposure prophylaxis, a biomedical intervention that when taken as prescribed, can reduce the risk of HIV transmission.¹¹⁻¹³ Studies have found that PrEP uptake among Black and Hispanic transgender women remains low due to multiple structural barriers such as employment, transportation, housing insecurity, community stigma, and negative experiences in healthcare.¹³⁻¹⁵

Many determinants of HIV risk among transwomen are influenced by policies related to transgender or gender diverse (TGD) people, which have been increasing over the past decade at the state and federal levels.^{7,16-17} Such policies can either be restrictive or protective in nature and have paramount implications for the health and wellbeing of TGD individuals.¹⁸⁻²⁰ Policies impacting TGD folks can often impact one's access to healthcare, health insurance, affordable housing, employment, and social environment – whether it be accepting or stigmatizing.¹⁸⁻²⁰ Previous studies have found that TGD individuals living in environments with more protective TGD-specific policies reported better mental health, less alcohol use, less time since their last routine health care checkup, and increased use of medical gender affirmation services.^{18,21}

Intersectionality

The intersectionality analytical framework is a powerful tool can be utilized to address the HIV epidemic among transgender women, which is underpinned by structural inequities.²² The intersectionality analytical framework supplies a means to examine complexities in health disparities among historically marginalized groups and subsequently informs health practitioners and systems of the most vulnerable communities and their needs in terms of prevention and treatment services.^{22-23.}

In recent years, scholars have analyzed intersectionality in qualitative and quantitative studies. Qualitative studies often examine the phenomenological experiences of groups with intersecting social identities and provide a comprehensive picture of lived experiences of intersection.²⁴ Qualitative studies have highlighted the importance of exploring the health of historically oppressed or disadvantaged groups.²⁵ However, quantitative studies often analyze intersectionality by typically examining social identities as categorical predictors to explain various outcomes.²⁴ There remains a lack of quantitative studies scientifically validating

intersectionality; therefore, scholars recommend that intersectionality be assessed quantitatively to advance scientific understanding of the unique lived experiences of intersecting identities.^{22, 24-25}

However, uncertainty remains about the best methods to analyze intersectionality quantitatively.²⁶⁻²⁷ It has been recommended that research utilizing an intersectional analytical framework aim to ensure fidelity of the original focus of intersectionality which involves power and interlocking systems of oppression.²² Therefore, studies should examine intersections of various social processes such as experiences of sexism, heterosexism, and racism, instead of social identities of gender, sexual orientation, and race/ethnicity.²³⁻²⁴ Focusing on social processes instead of social identities, allows researchers to examine the effects systems of oppression at the individual and population level.²³

Existing Evidence

Few studies have examined the relationship between multilevel stigma and HIV risk among transgender women of color. One analysis by Arayasirikul and authors, which examined the relationship between transphobic discrimination and HIV risk, found that trans women of color had greater odds of condomless receptive anal intercourse (CRAI) compared to white transwomen.²⁸ However, the authors did not include racial discrimination in their analysis.²⁸ In another study, Wesson and authors examined differences in HIV prevalence and experiences of discrimination. ³⁰ They utilized a quantitative intersectional approach and found that trans women of color reported fewer experiences of discrimination; however, they note that this may be due to underreporting of discrimination among trans women of color.³⁰

In summary, transgender women of color have unique experiences related to their various intersecting identities such as race, gender, education and income, and ability status to name a

few. In order to end disparities in HIV infection among this population, it is important to examine the intersecting social marginalization of race and gender identity that transgender women of color experience.²⁹ Once we have a better understanding of the intersectionality of these factors and how they potentiate HIV risk, we will be better equipped to develop interventions to improve sexual health and wellbeing for this group. Therefore, the objective of this analysis is to examine the relationship between experiences of race- and gender-related stigma at the interpersonal and structural levels, and HIV risk among trans women using a quantitative intersectional approach.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

Study Design

The present study is a cross-sectional quantitative analysis of primary and secondary data. This study is ancillary to the LifeSkills Mobile study, a NIH funded multisite randomized controlled efficacy trial with a repeated measures design. The goal of the parent study is to investigate the efficacy of the LifeSkills Mobile app-based intervention on HIV incidence in comparison to the standard of care prevention (SOC) condition among a large cohort (N = 5,000) of young transgender women (YTW) across the US. The study population includes YTW, ages 16-29, who are at risk for HIV infection in the U.S. Participants in the trial are recruited online or from community-based organizations on a rolling basis over 4 years. Enrolled participants are asked to complete at home HIV tests and surveys every 6 months for up to 48 months.

Participants

Participants for the present study were recruited from the parent study via email and text message promotion. To be eligible, participants must be: 1) currently enrolled in the parent study, and 2) have previously consented to be contacted regarding future research studies. To be eligible

for the parent study participants must: 1) be between 16 and 29 years old; 2) live in the U.S.; 3) be sexually active; 4) have access to a smartphone or computer; 5) be able to speak and read English; 6) be HIV-negative or have an unknown HIV status; and 7) identify as a trans woman or trans femme with a male sex designated at birth.

Measures

The independent variables in this analysis are transphobia and racism measured at the interpersonal and structural level. The dependent variable, or primary outcome of interest, is HIV risk. Additional covariates included sociodemographic factors such as age, employment status, housing status, educational attainment, income, and psychosocial factors such as mental health symptoms and substance use. Upon recruitment from the parent study, participants completed a short survey which contained the interpersonal stigma items along with identifier items such as name, email address, phone number, and date of birth to allow for matching participants to their parent study baseline data. HIV risk and additional individual-level covariates were collected from participants baseline survey. All variables are described in Table 1.

Interpersonal transphobia and racism were operationalized as stigma related to one's gender identity or race and/or ethnicity, respectively. Interpersonal stigma related to gender identity and race/ethnicity was measured with the Everyday Discrimination Scale, a quantitative survey with 9-items that assess experiences of day-to-day enacted discrimination and allows the participant to indicate the believed reason for these experiences.³¹ Items are answered on a sixpoint scale of (0) never, (1) less than once a year, (2) a few times a year, (3) a few times a month, (4) at least once a week, and (5) almost every day. Responses to these five items were summed for a possible score from 0 to 25, with higher scores indicating more experiences of discrimination. For this analysis, interpersonal racism was a continuous sum of any items where

the participant lists a perceived reason for said discrimination to be either race and/or ethnicity. Similarly, interpersonal transphobia was continuous sum of any items where the participant lists a perceived reason for said discrimination to be gender identity.

Structural transphobia was operationalized as gender-identity equality at the state level. Gender-identity equality was measured using a composite score of various state level policies pertaining to gender identity. Previous studies have utilized similar methods to operationalize structural stigma for transgender folks by creating summary index measures that score specific state policies based on their protections or restrictions for transgender health and wellbeing.¹⁹⁻²¹

Data was collected from the Movement Advancement Project (MAP), a publicly available data source that tracks over 50 different laws and policies within each state that explicitly address or impact gender identity and/or expression. The major categories of laws covered by the policy tally include: Relationship & Parental Recognition, Nondiscrimination, Religious Exemptions, LGBTQ Youth, Health Care, Criminal Justice, and Identity Documents.³² For each policy, MAP assigns a score or point value, and then adds these scores to create a "policy tally" for each state. A state's total possible tally score ranges from -30.5 to +44.5. Harmful or discriminatory policies earn negative points or point deductions, while inclusive or protective laws earn positive points.³² Fractions of a point may be awarded for states that have enacted a portion of a law, or in cases where local laws provide some protection but do not cover the entire state population.³² States are also categorized as "negative," "low," "fair," "medium," or "high," based on their tally score relative to the total tally points possible.³² Data available from Movement Advancement Project was last updated October 2023.

Structural racism was operationalized as racial equity at the state level, measured using the Racial Equity Index (REI), a ranking that offers a comparative snapshot of racial equity for

US cities, regions, and states.³³ The REI is a comprehensive metric collected from the National Equity Atlas, a publicly available data and policy tool produced by PolicyLink and the USC Equity Research Institute.³³

The Racial Equity Index (REI) assesses geographic areas using nine equity indicators. Each indicator is translated into inclusion values ranging from 1 to 100, with 100 indicating the highest racial inclusivity. ³³ These scores are combined to form the inclusion score. Additionally, each indicator is converted into prosperity values, also ranging from 1 to 100, with 100 representing the most positive overall outcomes. ³³ The composite prosperity value is calculated for the entire population, resulting in a prosperity score. ³³ Finally, the prosperity score and inclusion score are averaged to derive the REI, reflecting overall population outcomes and racial/ethnic inclusion. ³³ The indicators used include median wages, unemployment, poverty, educational attainment, disconnected youth, school poverty, air pollution exposure, commute time, and rent burden. ³³ Data available from the National Equity Atlas was last updated July 2020.

HIV risk was measured as the number of distinct condomless receptive or insertive anal and/or vaginal sex acts without protection of PrEP. This data was collected from the parent study baseline survey. In the parent study, PrEP use was verified with rapid urine tenofovir test strips at enrollment for all participants who stated they were currently taking PrEP.

Variable	Measurement	
Independent/Predictor Variables		
Interpersonal racism	Summary score of discrimination items where the participant believed the discrimination was due to their race and/or ethnicity. Measured using the Everyday Discrimination Scale ³¹ (continuous)	
Interpersonal transphobia	Summary score of discrimination items where the participant believed the discrimination was due to their gender identity. Measured using the Everyday Discrimination Scale ³¹ (continuous)	
Structural racism	Racial Equity Index state rank (continuous)	
Structural transphobia	Gender identity state policy score (continuous)	
Dependent/Outcome Variable		
HIV risk	Number of distinct receptive or insertive condomless anal or vaginal sex acts in the past 30 days, assessed at baseline (continuous)	
	Individual-level Covariates	
Age	Calculated from "What is your data of birth?"	
Race/Ethnicity	"What do you consider to be your primary race or ethnic background?"	
Gender identity	"How do you self-identify in terms of gender (check all that apply)?"	
Sexual orientation	"How do you describe your sexual identity (check all that apply)?"	
State of residence	Calculated from "What is your zip code where you currently live?"	
Employment status	"Are you currently employed?"	
Housing stability	"What best describes where you live right now?"	
Educational attainment	"What is your highest level of education?"	
Income	"What was your household income over the last 12-months from all sources before taxes?"	
PrEP use	"Have you taken PrEP at all in the last 30 days?"	
Depression	Summary score from the Short Depression Scale (CES-D) ³⁶	
Anxiety	Summary score from the General Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7) ³⁷	
Substance use	Summary score from the Alcohol, Smoking, And Substance Involvement Screening Test (ASSIST) ³⁸	

Table 1. Description of Study Variables

Data Analysis Plan and Power Analysis

Data will be analyzed with multilevel modeling, which can provide a novel and alternative approach to examining health disparities at the intersection of social identities or processes. Multilevel models are particularly appropriate for research designs where data for participants are organized at more than one level (i.e., nested data). The units of analysis are individuals (at a lower level) who are nested within contextual/aggregate units (at a higher level/structural levels). Using multilevel modeling has been recommended by various scholars conducting similar analyses using an intersectional framework in social epidemiology.³⁴⁻³⁵

For this analysis, level 1 (low level) is the individual level. Level 2 (high level) are the state-level social processes of structural racism and transphobia, operationalized as the racial equity index and gender-identity policy score. Individual participants are nested within states, therefore, individuals in each state share the same values for structural racism and transphobia. Individual-level covariates will include: interpersonal gender- and race-related discrimination, and other sociodemographic and/or psychosocial factors, to be determined upon model specification.

All analyses will use two-tailed tests of significance, with significance at alpha = 0.05. Similarly to previous studies, multiple hierarchical random effects models with maximum likelihood estimation will be fit. Three sets of models will be fit and tested, one for examining transphobia alone, one for examining racism alone, and one with interactions between racism and transphobia.^{35,43-44} Based on a conducted power analysis, a sample size of 300 will provide greater than 85% power to determine a moderate effect. Models will be specified with SAS 9.4 (cite) using the PROC MIXED procedure for multilevel models.⁴⁵

Ethical approval

Human subjects research was approved by the University of California, Los Angeles institutional review board, IRB#23-001019.

Chapter 3: Discussion

The results of this study should be considered in light of multiple potential limitations. Firstly, the use of gender identity and racial equity policies to measure structural racism and transphobia is a novel and non-validated method. While previous studies have conducted similar analyses, significant uncertainty remains as to whether these are the best measurements for such complex social processes and/or phenomena. The Racial Equity Index and gender identity policy score were both developed with a comprehensive list of policy indicators; however, these scores only consider existing laws and do not consider social climate, local level progress on certain protections, the actual implementation of each state law. It is possible that there are better suited metrics for capturing race-and/or gender-related discrimination and stigma. Further research is needed to develop comprehensive and valid measures for structural stigma to subsequently examine the public health impacts of racism, transphobia, and other structural social processes. Additionally, the state level data utilized in this analysis is not all current. The racial equity data last updated through July 2020 while the gender identity policy data was updated as recently as October 2023.

Secondly, the outcome of interest in this analysis was HIV risk and was only measured as the distinct number of insertive or receptive unprotected anal or vaginal sex acts. This measure did not consider other HIV transmission modes such as injection drug use. It is possible that other, more comprehensive, measures are more appropriate for quantifying and summarizing one's risk for acquiring HIV.

Additionally, a potential limitation is that the final models selected in this analysis were poorly fit or underpowered. Multilevel modeling has been utilized in social epidemiology, for example, to study structural/institutional racism in the context of overall health status, air pollution exposure, mortality risk, and other health inequities.³⁹⁻⁴² And more specifically, scholars are recommending the use of multilevel models over traditional regression models specifically for analyzing intersectionality, due to them having greater model parsimony, which is recommended as our number of dimensions/social strata under investigation increases.^{35,43-44} However, multilevel model specification is complex and requires us to deeply investigate the practical implications behind the empirical analyses. Analytic decisions in model building such as determining dimensions, additive parameters, the use of interaction terms, or determining fixed or random effects, will impact the interpretability of our results. These are important considerations when employing multilevel models to examine intersectionality, or utilize an intersectionality framework, with fidelity and in an interpretable manner.

Lastly, in the parent trial, LifeSkills Mobile, participants were not sampled probabilistically. Therefore, the study sample for this analysis is not representative of all young trans women and trans femmes in the US, impacting the overall generalizability of these results.

References

- Kanny D, Lee K, Olansky E, Robbins T, Trujillo L, Finlayson T, Morris E, Agnew-Brune C, Cha S, Chapin-Bardales J, Wejnert C; National HIV Behavioral Surveillance Among Transgender Women Study Group. Overview and Methodology of the National HIV Behavioral Surveillance Among Transgender Women - Seven Urban Areas, United States, 2019-2020. MMWR Suppl. 2024 Jan 25;73(1):1-8. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.su7301a1. PMID: 38284875; PMCID: PMC10826683.
- White Hughto JM, Reisner SL, Pachankis JE. Transgender stigma and health: A critical review of stigma determinants, mechanisms, and interventions. Soc Sci Med. 2015 Dec;147:222-31. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.11.010. Epub 2015 Nov 11. PMID: 26599625; PMCID: PMC4689648.
- Operario D, Soma T, Underhill K. Sex work and HIV status among transgender women: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2008 May 1;48(1):97-103. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e31816e3971. PMID: 18344875.
- Baral SD, Poteat T, Strömdahl S, Wirtz AL, Guadamuz TE, Beyrer C. Worldwide burden of HIV in transgender women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013 Mar;13(3):214-22. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(12)70315-8. Epub 2012 Dec 21. PMID: 23260128.
- Becasen JS, Denard CL, Mullins MM, Higa DH, Sipe TA. Estimating the Prevalence of HIV and Sexual Behaviors Among the US Transgender Population: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis, 2006-2017. Am J Public Health. 2019 Jan;109(1):e1-e8. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2018.304727. Epub 2018 Nov 29. PMID: 30496000; PMCID: PMC6301428.
- Arrington-Sanders R, Hailey-Fair K, Wirtz AL, Morgan A, Brooks D, Castillo M, Trexler C, Kwait J, Dowshen N, Galai N, Beyrer C, Celentano D. Role of Structural Marginalization, HIV Stigma, and Mistrust on HIV Prevention and Treatment Among Young Black Latinx Men Who Have Sex with Men and Transgender Women: Perspectives from Youth Service Providers. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2020 Jan;34(1):7-15. doi: 10.1089/apc.2019.0165. PMID: 31944853; PMCID: PMC6983743.
- Herek GM. A Nuanced View of Stigma for Understanding and Addressing Sexual and Gender Minority Health Disparities. LGBT Health. 2016 Dec;3(6):397-399. doi: 10.1089/lgbt.2016.0154. Epub 2016 Nov 9. PMID: 27828720.
- Fletcher JB, Kisler KA, Reback CJ. Housing status and HIV risk behaviors among transgender women in Los Angeles. Arch Sex Behav. 2014 Nov;43(8):1651-61. doi: 10.1007/s10508-014-0368-1. Epub 2014 Sep 5. PMID: 25190499; PMCID: PMC4214608.
- 9. Wilson EC, Garofalo R, Harris RD, Herrick A, Martinez M, Martinez J, Belzer M; Transgender Advisory Committee and the Adolescent Medicine Trials Network for HIV/AIDS Interventions. Transgender female youth and sex work: HIV risk and a comparison of life factors related to engagement in sex work. AIDS Behav. 2009

Oct;13(5):902-13. doi: 10.1007/s10461-008-9508-8. Epub 2009 Feb 6. PMID: 19199022; PMCID: PMC2756328.

- Zimmerman RS, Benotsch EG, Shoemaker S, Snipes DJ, Cathers L, Perrin PB, et al. Mediational models linking psychosocial context, mental health problems, substance use, and HIV risk behaviors in transgender women. Health Psychology and Behavioral Medicine. 2015;3(1):379–90. doi: 10.1080/21642850.2015.1093423
- Deutsch MB, Glidden DV, Sevelius J, Keatley J, McMahan V, Guanira J, Kallas EG, Chariyalertsak S, Grant RM; iPrEx investigators. HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis in transgender women: a subgroup analysis of the iPrEx trial. Lancet HIV. 2015 Dec;2(12):e512-9. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3018(15)00206-4. Epub 2015 Nov 6. PMID: 26614965; PMCID: PMC5111857.
- Donnell D, Baeten JM, Bumpus NN, Brantley J, Bangsberg DR, Haberer JE, Mujugira A, Mugo N, Ndase P, Hendrix C, Celum C. HIV protective efficacy and correlates of tenofovir blood concentrations in a clinical trial of PrEP for HIV prevention. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2014 Jul 1;66(3):340-8. doi: 10.1097/QAI.000000000000172. PMID: 24784763; PMCID: PMC4059553.
- Eaton LA, Matthews DD, Driffin DD, Bukowski L, Wilson PA, Stall RD; POWER Study Team. A Multi-US City Assessment of Awareness and Uptake of Pre-exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP) for HIV Prevention Among Black Men and Transgender Women Who Have Sex with Men. Prev Sci. 2017 Jul;18(5):505-516. doi: 10.1007/s11121-017-0756-6. PMID: 28101813; PMCID: PMC5926200.
- Poteat T, Wirtz A, Malik M, Cooney E, Cannon C, Hardy WD, Arrington-Sanders R, Lujan M, Yamanis T. A Gap Between Willingness and Uptake: Findings From Mixed Methods Research on HIV Prevention Among Black and Latina Transgender Women. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2019 Oct 1;82(2):131-140. doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000002112. PMID: 31180995; PMCID: PMC7807529.
- Ogunbajo A, Storholm ED, Ober AJ, Bogart LM, Reback CJ, Flynn R, Lyman P, Morris S. Multilevel Barriers to HIV PrEP Uptake and Adherence Among Black and Hispanic/Latinx Transgender Women in Southern California. AIDS Behav. 2021 Jul;25(7):2301-2315. doi: 10.1007/s10461-021-03159-2. Epub 2021 Jan 29. PMID: 33515132; PMCID: PMC7845787.
- 16. Human Rights Campaign Foundation. Equality from state to state & state equality index archives. https://www.hrc.org/resources/equality-from-state-to-state. Published 2019.
- 17. Stryker S. Transgender History: The Roots of Today's Revolution. 2nded. New York: Seal Press; 2017
- Du Bois SN, Yoder W, Guy AA, Manser K, Ramos S. Examining Associations Between State-Level Transgender Policies and Transgender Health. Transgend Health. 2018 Dec 26;3(1):220-224. doi: 10.1089/trgh.2018.0031. PMID: 30596149; PMCID: PMC6308272.

- 19. Gleason HA, Livingston NA, Peters MM, Oost KM, Reely E, Cochran BN. Effects of state nondiscrimination laws on trans-gender and gender-nonconforming individuals' perceived com-munity stigma and mental health. J Gay Lesbian Mental Health.2016;20(4):350-362.10.
- Perez-Brumer A, Hatzenbuehler ML, Oldenburg CE, Bockting W. Individual- and Structural-Level Risk Factors for Suicide Attempts Among Transgender Adults. Behav Med. 2015;41(3):164-71. doi: 10.1080/08964289.2015.1028322. Epub 2015 Aug 19. PMID: 26287284; PMCID: PMC4707041.
- Goldenberg T, L Reisner S, W Harper G, E Gamarel K, Stephenson R. State-Level Transgender-Specific Policies, Race/Ethnicity, and Use of Medical Gender Affirmation Services among Transgender and Other Gender-Diverse People in the United States. Milbank Q. 2020 Sep;98(3):802-846. doi: 10.1111/1468-0009.12467. Epub 2020 Aug 18. PMID: 32808696; PMCID: PMC7482380.
- Bowleg L. Evolving Intersectionality Within Public Health: From Analysis to Action. Am J Public Health. 2021 Jan;111(1):88-90. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.306031. PMID: 33326269; PMCID: PMC7750585.
- Aguayo-Romero RA. (Re)centering Black Feminism Into Intersectionality Research. Am J Public Health. 2021 Jan;111(1):101-103. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.306005. PMID: 33326278; PMCID: PMC7750622.
- Parent MC, Deblaere C, Moradi B. Approaches to Research on Intersectionality: Perspectives on Gender, LGBT, and Racial/Ethnic Identities. Sex Roles. 2013; 68(11-12): 639–645. doi: 10.1007/s11199-013-0283-2
- 25. Alvidrez J, Greenwood GL, Johnson TL, Parker KL. Intersectionality in Public Health Research: A View From the National Institutes of Health. Am J Public Health. 2021 Jan;111(1):95-97. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.305986. PMID: 33326274; PMCID: PMC7750592.
- 26. Bauer GR. Incorporating intersectionality theory into population health research methodology: challenges and the potential to advance health equity. Soc Sci Med. 2014 Jun;110:10-7. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.03.022. Epub 2014 Mar 25. PMID: 24704889.
- 27. Nash JC. Re-thinking intersectionality. Feminist review. 2008 Jun;89(1):1-15. doi: 10.1057/fr.2008.4
- Arayasirikul S, Wilson EC, Raymond HF. Examining the Effects of Transphobic Discrimination and Race on HIV Risk Among Transwomen in San Francisco. AIDS Behav. 2017 Sep;21(9):2628-2633. doi: 10.1007/s10461-017-1728-3. PMID: 28220311; PMCID: PMC5563490.
- 29. Wesson P, Vittinghoff E, Turner C, Arayasirikul S, McFarland W, Wilson E. Intercategorical and Intracategorical Experiences of Discrimination and HIV Prevalence Among Transgender Women in San Francisco, CA: A Quantitative Intersectionality Analysis. Am J Public Health.

2021 Mar;111(3):446-456. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.306055. Epub 2021 Jan 21. PMID: 33476238; PMCID: PMC7893335.

- 30. Bowleg L, Malekzadeh AN, Mbaba M, Boone CA. Ending the HIV epidemic for all, not just some: structural racism as a fundamental but overlooked social-structural determinant of the US HIV epidemic. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2022 Mar 1;17(2):40-45. doi: 10.1097/COH.00000000000724. PMID: 35102051; PMCID: PMC9109814.
- Williams DR, Yan Yu, Jackson JS, Anderson NB. Racial Differences in Physical and Mental Health: Socio-economic Status, Stress and Discrimination. J Health Psychol. 1997 Jul;2(3):335-51. doi: 10.1177/135910539700200305. PMID: 22013026.
- 32. Movement Advancement Project. Equality Maps: Snapshot: LGBTQ Equality By State. https://www.mapresearch.org/equality-maps/. Accessed 03/02/2024. PolicyLink and the USC Equity Research Institute; National Equity Atlas, nationalequityatlas.org, 2024.
- 33. Merlo J. Multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (MAIHDA) within an intersectional framework. Soc Sci Med. 2018 Apr;203:74-80. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.12.026. Epub 2017 Dec 26. PMID: 29305018.
- 34. Evans CR, Williams DR, Onnela JP, Subramanian SV. A multilevel approach to modeling health inequalities at the intersection of multiple social identities. Soc Sci Med. 2018 Apr;203:64-73. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.11.011. Epub 2017 Nov 30. PMID: 29199054.
- 35. Radloff LS. The CES-D Scale: A Self-Report Depression Scale for Research in the General Population. Appl Psych Meas. 1977;1(3):385-401. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177/014662167700100306
- 36. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med. 2006 May 22;166(10):1092-7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092. PMID: 16717171.
- 37. Humeniuk RE, Henry-Edwards S, Ali RL, Poznyak V and Monteiro M. The Alcohol, Smoking and Substance Involvement Screening Test (ASSIST): Manual for Use in Primary Care. Geneva, World Health Organization. 2010.
- 38. Subramanian SV, Chen JT, Rehkopf DH, Waterman PD, Krieger N. Racial disparities in context: a multilevel analysis of neighborhood variations in poverty and excess mortality among black populations in Massachusetts. Am J Public Health. 2005 Feb;95(2):260-5. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2003.034132. Erratum in: Am J Public Health. 2005 Mar;95(3):375. PMID: 15671462; PMCID: PMC1449164.
- 39. Gee GC. A multilevel analysis of the relationship between institutional and individual racial discrimination and health status. Am J Public Health. 2008 Sep;98(9 Suppl):S48-56. doi: 10.2105/ajph.98.supplement_1.s48. PMID: 18687618; PMCID: PMC2518571.

- 40. Alvarez CH. Structural Racism as an Environmental Justice Issue: A Multilevel Analysis of the State Racism Index and Environmental Health Risk from Air Toxics. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities. 2023 Feb;10(1):244-258. doi: 10.1007/s40615-021-01215-0. Epub 2022 Jan 6. PMID: 34993918; PMCID: PMC9810559.
- Lee Y, Muennig P, Kawachi I, Hatzenbuehler ML. Effects of Racial Prejudice on the Health of Communities: A Multilevel Survival Analysis. Am J Public Health. 2015 Nov;105(11):2349-55. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2015.302776. Epub 2015 Sep 17. PMID: 26378850; PMCID: PMC4605182.
- Evans CR, Onnela JP, Williams DR, Subramanian SV. Multiple contexts and adolescent body mass index: Schools, neighborhoods, and social networks. Soc Sci Med. 2016 Aug;162:21-31. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.06.002. Epub 2016 Jun 3. PMID: 27322912.
- Green MA, Evans CR, Subramanian SV. Can intersectionality theory enrich population health research? Soc Sci Med. 2017 Apr;178:214-216. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.02.029. Epub 2017 Feb 22. PMID: 28238539.
- 44. Bell BA, Ene M, Smiley WF, Schoeneberger JA. A Multilevel Model Primer Using SAS. SAS Global Forum. 2023.